

VRG_Folder - 0615

— A, see under Coan catalogue

1. A club

Plate 1

3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 518 (Plate 1), 707, 826.

2.* Αγαθ[(retr.)

Plate 1

1 ex., Athens: SS 9382 (cistern B 20: 2, filled before about 150 B.C.).

3.* Αγαθα(club

⁶ $\frac{1}{2}$ examples from β different dies

Plate 1

Die A, 8 ex.; Athens, SS 554 (MSBF) and 12682 (MSBF)(Plate 1); Alexandria,

ABC 945.

4. Die B, 2 ex.: Athens, SS 6367; Alexandria, AVG 973 (Plate 1).

Die C, 7 ex.: ^{Co 13/25 Maiuri 1925} Cos, Hellen. Syllo., p.246, 2; Athens, SS 6619 (cistern E 6: 2,

bottom filling, before mid-2nd B.C.)(Plate 1), SS 12534 (MSBF?), EM 71, 82; Delos,

TD 2889, 2 impressions (Plate 1); Alexandria, AVG 858; Alexandria?, EM 89.

Die D, 1 ex., Cos: Co 30 .

4.* Αγαθο[ν]

Plate 1

2 ex.: Athens, SS 12294 (MSBF?) (~~plate 1~~); Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 40 (Plate 1)

— AA see AA

5. Ασαιον

$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$

$\frac{1}{2}$ examples from β different dies

Plate 1

Die A, 1 ex.; Athens; EM 1 (Plate 1)

Die B, 5 ex., Alexandria: ABC 88 (Plate 1), 438, 537, 818; AVG 882.

Alexandria

Die C, 3 ex., ALEXANDRIA: ABC 259 (Plate 1), 586, 593.

Die D, 13 ex., of which 3 from Alexandria: AVG 902 (Plate 1), ⁹⁶³ 1083;

ABC 255, 384, 414, 434, 482, 499, 596, 802, 817, 955; of unknown finding-place,

BM 1925, 1-19, 337.

5

1.026

Die ⑩, 1 ex.: unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 445. (Pl. 2).

Unknown die, 5 ex.: Pantikapaion, Skoril Marti, 1910, p. 41, 250 (page reference
is of the offprint), K' 12; Kamenka, K 11; Nymphaion, K 14; Phanagoria, K 13.

8. Αδαιον rose ~~go on~~ 25 examples from 3 different dies

Die A, 16 ex.; Athens, SS 2382 (well F \neq 15:5, Hellenistic); EM 2;

Alexandria, ABC 120, 124, 147, 155, 179(Plate 2), 199(?), 290(?), 440, 446, 555(?)

~~758, 770, 890; AVG 901, (plate 2); Isthia, V. Canarache 1957, p. 279, fig. 12.~~

Die B, 8 ex. of which 7 from Alexandria: Delos, TD 1390; Alexandria,

ABC 291, 497 (Plate 2), 522, 891, 959; AVG 1100; BM 48, 7-31, 351.

Die 6, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 214 (Plate 2), and 325 (Plate 2).

~~UnKnown die 7 ex. Tyras; E.M Staerman 1951, no. 103. The same reading appears on a broad (non-double) handle stamp from Tyras, see below.~~
9. A Sarov rose ~~rebel~~ 2 examples from 2 different dies Plate 2

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC Z (Plate 2).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 864 (Plate 2).

10. Αθηναῖοι 2 examples from 2 different dies

Die ~~A~~, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 479 (Plate 3) (whole handle preserved, Ht. 0.162).

Die Br., 1 ex. 1 Kos, K 36 (Pl. ~~3~~⁴; Maiw., 1925, p. 247, 2).

BM 1925, 1-19, 337.

Die E, ² ex., Alexandria: AVG 1109 (Plate 1); Phanagoria, K 10.

~~ad die G
BM 54 (Pl. 2)
same on underside
BM M 50~~

Die F, ² ex., Alexandria: ABC 856 (Plate 1). Continue the attached paper
~~Unknown die, Kex., Corinth; S. Dörpfeld, M. H. Denkschriften des Odysseus-Gesellschaft
1910, p. 41, 250 (page ref. is of the reprint), K 12.~~

6. -Aσαιο(v) (retro)

1 ex., Athens: EM 72

7. -Aσαιο(v) (retro) Apparently a cut die.

Plate 2

3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 75 (Plate ~~2~~), 768, 803.

8. -Aσαιο rose ^{20/24/34} 25 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 2

Die A, 16 ex.: Athens, SS 2382 (well F Λ 15:5, Hellenistic); EM 2;

Alexandria, ABC 120, 124, 147, 155, 179 (Plate 2), 199(?), 290(?), 440, 446, 555(?),

758, 770, 890; AVG 901, (plate 2); Istria, V. Canarache ¹⁹⁵⁴ 1957, P. 279, 712.

Die B, 8 ex. of which 7 from Alexandria: Delos, TD 1390; Alexandria,

ABC 291, 497 (Plate 2), 522, 891, 959; AVG 1100; BM 48, 7-31, 351.

Die C, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 214 (Plate 2), and 325 (Plate 2).

~~double) Unknown die 5 ex. Tyras; E. M. Staerman, no. 103. The same reading appears on a broad (non-die) fragment from Tyras, see below.~~

9. -Aσαιο rose (retro) 2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 2

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC Ζ (Plate 2).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 864 (Plate 2).

10. -Αθναίον 2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 3

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 479 (Plate 3) (whole handle preserved, Ht. 0.162).

Die B, 1 ex., Kos, K 36 (Pl. 3; Maior, 1925, p. 247, 2).

⑤

1. 026

Die ⑥, 1 ex.: unknow finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 445. (Pl. 2).

A similar stamp appears on a broad (non-double) handle from Alexandria ^{Good} below (Pl. 2).

Unknow die, 5 ex.: PantiKapaion, Skorpi-Marti, 1910, p. 41, 250 (page reference
is of the offprint), K 12; Kamenka, K 11; Nymphaion, K 14; Phanagoria, K 13.

BM 1925, 1-19, 357.

Die E, 1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 1109 (Plate 1).

Die F, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 856 (Plate 1).

~~Unknown die, 1 ex., Kerch. Skopil-karte, Denkschriften der Odessas Gesellschaft
6. Αδαιο(ν) (retro)~~ 1910, p. 41, 250 (no ref. in the offprint)

Plate 2

1 ex., Athens: EM 72

7. Αδαιο(ν) (retro)

Apparently a cut die.

Plate 2

3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 75 (Plate ~~2~~/²), ~~768, 803.~~

8. Αδαιο^ν rose

~~29/28
30/25~~ examples from 3 different dies

Plate 2

Die A, ~~16~~¹⁹ ex.; Athens, SS 2382 (well F \neq 15:5, Hellenistic); EM 2;

Alexandria, ABC 120, 124, 147, 155, 179 (Plate 2), 199(?), 290(?), 440, 446, 555(?),

¹⁰⁰⁴
758, 770, 890; AVG 901, (plate 2); Istria, V. Canarache, ¹⁹⁵¹p. 297, 712.

Die B, 8 ex. of which 7 from Alexandria: Delos, TD 1390; Alexandria,

ABC 291, 497 (Plate 2), 522, 891, 959; AVG 1100; BM 48, 7-31, 351.

Die 6, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 214 (Plate 2), and 325 (Plate 2).

~~Unknown die 1 ex. Tyros; E.M. Staeck 1951 no. 103. The same reading appears on a broad (wonderfully
handle types. E.M. Staeck 1951 no. 104. from Tyros, 600 below.~~

9. Αδαιο^ν rose (retro) 2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 2

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC \neq (Plate 2).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 864 (Plate 2).

10. ΑΘναιον

~~3~~ examples from ~~3~~ different dies

Plate 3

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 479 (Plate 3) (whole handle preserved, Ht. 0.162).

Die B, 1 ex.: Kn, K 36 (Pl. 3; Kaiuri, 1925, p. 24 (2)).

11. ΑΟνναιογ 2 ex. from 2 dies.

- 5 -

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 64 (Plate 3).

2 Die B, 1 ex., Kos: K 76

11. ΑΟνναι[ον]?

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 413.

Plate 5

12. ΑΟνναιο(ν)

club

1 ex., Cos: Maiuri 1925, 247 (= KR 259)

Maiuri 1925, 247 (= KR 259) 2. According to the drawing, this type is close to, but not identical with, 11.

13. ΑΟνναιο(ν) (reh.)

club

Plate 2

1 ex., from Cos: Nuov. Syll., p. 247, 3. (= KR 295) (Plate 2)

14. Επι ΤΤοξιζου (reh.)

ΑΟνναιανος

1 ex., from Kerch(?): Vladislav Skorpil, Bull. Comm. Imp. Arth. 1904, 11, p. 148,

658. The type is included with reservations. Skorpil's text states that the stamp

is on a double handle, but the statement may be based on an error in records,

since the kind of stamp is uncharacteristic, and neither of the names is otherwise

known on Coan stamps.

7 ΑΘηναιον see 11 (KR 259)

15. Αιγαίων in cartouche-shaped stamp

Plate 3

1 ex., Antioch: a991-P1844.

16. Αιγαίτογ

Plate 3

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 11.

17. Αιγαίο(ν)

club

Maiuri 1925, (Plate 3) (Newton's investigation, 1856)

2 ex.: Cos, Nuov. Syll., p. 427, 4; Calymnos, BM 1955, 9-20, 322 (Plate 3).

Plate 3

41. Αντίφανος
club

Pl. 5

7 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 6 ex.: Athens, SS 9965 (drain filling A-B 19-20: 1, mostly to ca. third quarter of Ηεράκειον 2nd century B.C.); Ker. ^{KGA} 401 (Pl. 5); Alexandria, AVG 898, 2147 (inv. no. 15445); unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, 352a and 352b.

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 843 (Pl. 5).
41bis Αντίφανος
-- 1 ex.: Samos, Marinier I 699.
-- Aσπύλους? see 2761

Pl. 5

42. Ανοδά(

Pl. 5

5 ex.: Cos, no. 117; Alexandria, ABC 453 (Pl. 5); ¹⁰⁴⁴ AVG 1076; Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 34.

43. Ανοδά((framed)

Pl. 5

4 ex.: Delos, TD 2290 (Pl. 5); Alexandria, ABC 511, 788, 1074.
43. Ανοδά(framed)
44. 2 ex.: Samos, Marinier I 1004 (Pl. 5); Tyrras; Staemann ^{1951, Pl. 6} ^{Partly the same stamp, same} ^{no. 124, double handle fragment} ^{Staemann, p. 39, fig. 6}

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 496.45. Ανοδαδιπον (framed)

Pl. 5

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 274. The fragment is apparently part of a double handle although no trace was found of the other section.

46. Ανοδαδιοφ (crys)

Pl. 5

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 73.

A similar stamp appears on broad (or double) handle ⁽⁶⁰⁰⁾ ^{below} ^{of Alexandria, M 19 of} the handle mentioned (Pl. 8).

44. ΑΠΟΔΩ(ο)Σ. [

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 496.

Plate 5

45. ΑΠΟΔΩΣιπον, (framed)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 274. The fragment is apparently part of a double handle although no trace was found of the other section.

46. ΑΠΟΔΩΣ(αντ.)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 73.

47. ΑΠΟΔΩΣ(αντ.)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 514.

add ΑΠΟΔΩΣ
47bis

48. ΑΠΟΔΩΣ(αντ.)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 983.

49. ΑΠΟΔΩΣ(αντ.)

Plate 5

2 ex.: Athens, SS 9534; Alexandria, AVG 2145 (inv. no. 15458) (Plate 5).

50. ΑΠΟΔΩΣ trident

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 467 (Plate 5), 972.

add type
50bis

51. Απαλ (αντ.)

Plate 6

Die A, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 880; AVG 2113 (inv. no. 15470) (Plate 6).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 527 (Plate 6).

52. Απασ(αντ.)

Plate 6

Cos, Cos 52, 24;

8 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 386, 420, 427 (Plate 6), 549; AVG 1105 (whole handle with part of neck and shoulder preserved, on which see above, pp. 2144, 1-19, Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 119; of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 357).

53.a) Απασ(αντ.)

Plate 6

b) club

4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 243 (Plate 6), 247, 717; AVG 1050.

54. Απασ(αντ.)

Plate 6

examples from 3 different dies

Die A, 1 ex.: of unknown finding place, BM 68, 4-5, 114 (Plate 6).

Die B, 1 ex.: of unknown finding place (Newton's investigations 1859), BM 1955, 9-20 320 (Plate 6).

Die C, 1 ex., Calymnos (Newton's investigations 1856), BM 1955, 9-20, 297 (Plate 6).

Add type w. club
50bis

Could be with device (bar, club?)

44. Αποστόλος [

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 496.

Plate 5

45. Αποστόλος. (framed)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 274. The fragment is apparently part of a double handle although no trace was found of the other section.

46. Αποστόλος (arms)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 73.

47. Αποστόλος (club)

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 514.

48. Αποστόλος.
v. Sims trident

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 983.

49. Αποστόλος.
v. Sims

Plate 5

2 ex.: Athens, SS 9534; Alexandria, AVG 2145 (inv. no. 15458) (Plate 5)

50. Αποστόλος trident

Plate 5

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 467 (Plate 5), 972.

51. Apal (club)

3 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 6

Die A, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 880; AVG 2113 (Inv. no. 15470) (Plate 6).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 527 (Plate 6).

52. Apas(

10, (65, 65, 52, 124);

Plate 6

8 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 386, 420, 427 (Plate 6), 549; AVG 1105 (whole handle with part of neck and shoulder preserved, on which see above, pp. 2144;

Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 119; of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 242X0, 357.

1-19,

53. Apas(

b) club

Plate 6

4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 245 (Plate 6), 247, 717; AVG 1050.

54. Apasi(

3 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 6

2, (65, 65, 35)

Die A, 1 ex., of unknown finding place, BM 68, 4-5, 114 (Plate 6).

Die B, 1 ex., of unknown finding place (Newton's investigations 1859), BM 1955, 9-20, 520 (Plate 6).

Die C, 1 ex., Calymnos (Newton's investigations 1856), BM 1955, 9-20, 297 (Plate 6)

/ could be with device (bar, club?)

51. - Apa(*reh.*)

3 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 6

Die A, 2 ex., Alexandria; ABC 880; AVG 2113 (inv. no. 15470) (Plate 6).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 527 (Plate 6).

52. - Apas(

Plate 6

16 ex.: Cos, Cos 52, 124; Alexandria, ABC 386, 420, 427, (Plate 6), 549;

AVG 1105 (whole handle with part of neck and shoulder preserved, on which see above,

pp.), 2144; Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 119; of unknown finding place, BM 1925,

1-19, 357. Note similarity of stamp on 52

53. a) - Apas(

Plate 6

b) club

4 ex., Alexandria; ABC 243 (Plate 6), 247, 717; AVG 1050.

54. - Apasi(

4 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 6

Die A, 2 ex.: Cos, Cos 35; of unknown finding place, BM 68, 4-5, 114 (Plate 6).

Die B, 2 ex.: Cos, Cos 141; of unknown finding place (Newton's investigations in 1859), BM 1955, 9-20, 320 (Plate 6).

54 bis. - Apasi(

3 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 6

Die A, 2 ex.: Cos, Cos 54 (Plate 6); Calymnos (Newton's investigations in 1856),

BM 1955, 9-20, 297 .

Die B, 1 ex., Cos: Cos 6 (Plate 6).

(59)^{bis}

Ap(Tex(

))

Pl. 4

1 ex.: PantiKapaion? Staerman, 1951, fig. 6 no. 211. Listed by Grakov, K. 36.

We owe the information for the finding place of this example to Prof. Grakov.

(59)^{ter}Apical
club

Pl. 4

1 ex.: Kos, K 119 (small size handle).(59)^{quarter}Apical in round stamp
apxoo1 ex.: Black Sea (North Shores), Pridik, 1917, p. 110, 187. Prof. Grakov, informs us that this is one half of a double handle. Listed by Grakov, K 38.

55. -Aggeis

Plate 6

- 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 950.

56. *Aegion*

Die A, ex.: Athens, SS 5031 (cistern D 12: 2, filling of late 2nd and early

1st centuries B.C.); Alexandria, ABC 245, 278; AVGB 856, 2119; of unknown finding-place,

BM 1925, 1-19, 359 (Plate 7); Black Sea (North Shores), Grakov, k 35.

Die B, 2 ex.: Athens, EM 7; Alexandria, ABCS 87 (Plate 7).

A. Die ~~unknown~~, 1 ex., Samaria: see J. Crowfoot Samaria-Sebaste 3, p. 1. Inv. no. 36.633 W. Lund

57. Apis (ethi)

³² Kos, ~~K~~ 71 (Plate 7);

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 930.

~~Ex.: Alexandria, ABC 930. A similar stamp appears on a broad (not double) handle from Rhegium (Italy). (Fayolle, L.G. XIV, 2393, 144), 000 below.~~

58. $\neg A \vee (\neg v)$

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 867.

59. $\text{Ap}_L(\pi_{\text{Ap}})$

Kasi 58 (Pl. 8);

~~Ex. Antioch~~ a 1174- P 1941.

60. Apisze

club

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 341.

61. a) - Ap. 672 (sub)

8) Mys

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 38.

55. Αργετος

Plate 6

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 950.

56. Αργυρου

12/13

9 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 6

¹⁰ Cos, Cos 42, 75;

Die A, 6 ex.: Athens, SS 5031 (cistern D 12: 2, filling of late 2nd and early

1st centuries B.C.); Alexandria, ABC 245, 278; AVG 856, 2119; ⁹⁸³ Samaria ... of unknown finding-place,

EM 1925, 1-19, 359 (Plate 6).

³ Cos, Cos 140;

Die B, 2 ex.: Athens, EM 7; Alexandria, ABC 87 (Plate 6).

Die unknown, 1 ex., Samaria: ^{inv.no. 36.635}, ^{N.} see J. Crowfoot, Samaria-Sebaste 3, p.

London, 1957

57. Αρι (θετ.)

Plate 6

³ Cos, Cos 71 (plate 6);

1 ex.; Alexandria, ABC 930. ⁹⁸⁵ A similar (?) stamp appears on a broad (non-double) handle in Rhegium (Italy), Habel, I.G. XIV, 2393, 144.

Gf. no. [—], AVG 2121)

58. Αρι (νυ)

Plate 6

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 867.

59. Αρι (Ταρ)

Plate 6

² Cos, Cos 58;

1 ex.; Antioch, a 1174- P 1941.

60. Αρι επι

Plate 6

club
1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 341.

61. Αρι επι

Plate 6

club

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 38.

62. Apis**cas** *hident?*
62. Apis**cas** *dentate*

Plate 7

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 204 (Plate 7), 724 (Plate 7).

63. Apis**cas** *dentate*
63. Apis**cas** *dentate*

Plate 7

7 ex., Alexandria: ABC 143, 339, 407, 448, 473 (Plate 7), 551, 764, .

64. Apis**cas** *dentate*

4 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 7

Die A, 2 ex.: Delos TD 3621 (Plate 7); Alexandria, ABC 876.

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria, ABC 389 (Plate 7), 1002.

Die C, 1 ex., Rhodes, ME 298 (Plate 7).

65. Apis**cas** *noth*

Plate 7

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 264 (Plate 7), 591.

66. Apis**cas**

Plate 7

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 946; AVG 910 (Plate 7).

67. Apis**cas** *noth*

3 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 7

Die A, 2 ex.: Delos, TD 2427; Naucratis, 1955, 9-20, 37 (Plate 7)

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 208 (Plate 7), 999 (Plate 7).

68. Apis**cas** *(ret.)*

Plate 7

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 922.

69. Apis**cas** *club* *os�ht*

Plate 7

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 457.

70.* Apis**cas**

Plate 7

1 ex., Athens: SS 12226 (MSBF)

71. $\text{Apx} \varepsilon \mu \nu \varepsilon$ ⁸
^{ov} Maiuri, 1925,
 1 ex., Rhodes: Nuov. Sill., p. 249, 11 (Plate 7). add on the text

72. $\text{Apx} \varepsilon \mu \nu$ ⁸
^u ^(reh) ^{K 70} (Pl. 4)
 32 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 889 (Plate 7). Samos, I 852. (from the German inventory book, but handle
 is not found in 1957) A similar stamp appears on a broad (not double)
 handle in Alexandria; ABC M/27 (Plate 7).

73. $\text{Apx} \varepsilon \mu \nu \varepsilon \delta \mu \rho \nu$ ⁸
^q
 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 926. (Pl. 7)
 The same stamp appears on broad handles (necessarily) found in Pella, (○○○) below (Pl. 8)
 The name occurs on a small medicine flask, (○○○) below (Pl. 7)

74. $\text{Apx} \varepsilon \mu \nu \varepsilon$ small caduceus ⁸
^q
 1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 885

75. $\text{Apx} \varepsilon \mu \nu \varepsilon \omega \nu \omega \nu s$ ⁹
⁶
 6 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 169, 269, 415; Gezer, R.A.S. Macalister, The Excavation of
London, 1912. Gezer 1902-5 and 1907-8, II, p. 355, 134 (no statement that the handle
 is double); of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 372 (Plate 8).

76. $\text{Apx} \varepsilon \delta \mu \rho \nu$ ⁹
² ^{pl. 9}
 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1165 (Pl. 9). London, 1957.
 1 ex.: Samaria, see J. Crowfoot, Samaria - Sebastos, p. 385.

77. $\text{A} \sigma \kappa \alpha \varepsilon$ (reh.) ⁹
^q
 2 ex., Athens: ΕΠΙΧΙΛΛΕΙΑ EM 8 (Plate 8), 2.

78. $\text{A} \sigma \kappa \gamma \nu$ ¹
^{club}
 2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 834. (Pl. 9); Tyros, Staerman, 1951, no. 94. Listed by Grakov, K 42.

71. - Ap[ε]ρ[η]λ?

Plate 7

Maiuri, 1925,
1 ex., Rhodes: Nineteen, p.249, 11 (Plate 7).

72. - Ap[ε]ρ[η]λ

Plate 7

2 (new)
3 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 889 (Plate 7). A similar stamp appears on a broad (not double handle) handle in Alexandria : ABC M/27 (Plate 7). (Samos, Kerameikos, I 852.)

73. - Ap[ε]ρ[η]λδιπον

Plate 7

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 926.

74. - Ap[ε]ρ[η]λδιπον (small cursive)

Plate 7

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 885

75. - Ap[ε]ρ[η]λδιπον

Plate 8

5 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 169, 269, 415; Gezer: R.A.S. Macalister, Excavation at

Gezer 1902-5 and 1907-8, London, 1912, II, p.355, 134 (no statement that the handle is double); of unknown

finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 372 (Plate 8).

76. - Ap[ε]ρ[η]λδιπον

Plate 8

1 ex., Samaria: see J. Crowfoot, Samaria-Sebaste 5, p.

77. - Aερ[η]λ (het.)

Plate 8

2 ex., Athens: EXCELSIOR. EM 8 (Plate 8), 9.

78. - Aερ[η]λ
club

Plate 8

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 834.

79. *Aσκυνθος*

Plate 8

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 854, (plate 8): ABC 1000.

80. *Aσκυνθος*

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 8

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 779.

Die B, 1 ex., Athens: SS 9045.

81. *Aσκυνθος*

Plate 8

1 ex., Athens: SS 8214 (well G 5: 3, filling dated 2nd quarter of 2nd c. B.C.)

a whole jar, on which see above, pp.

82. *Aσκυνθος*

Plate 8

3 ex.: ^{Cos, Cos 38;} Athens, EM 10, 11; Alexandria, ABC 449; AVG 1049, 2142 (Plate 8); Naucratis, EM 1955, 9-20, 131; Cosa, ^{Italy,} 1950, CB 1576.

83.

* *Aσκυνθος?*

Plate 8

10 ex.: ^{Cos, Cos 49;}

Athens, SS 12704 (MSBF); Alexandria, ABC 226, 822, 830, 960 (Plate 8) ¹⁰¹⁴;

AVG 851, 2122; Collection of Greek School (single Coan example seen in February 1955).

This seems to be an impression of the same die as 82, but made before the trimming off of a final letter, a lunate sigma or an (incomplete) omicron? Examples incomplete at the right end have been listed under 83.

84. *Aσκυνθος*

500 ^{feeb} Alexandria

Plate 8

2 ex.: Athens, EM 93; Alexandria, ABC 458 (Plate 8).

85. *Ayposisid(v)* (ret.)

Plate 8

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 470.

86. *J. VIKOU*
Ayposisid(v)

Plate 8

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 150.

87. *Ax(a)p(1)s*

Plate 8

10 ex. : Athens, SS 11018; ^{Alexandria(?)} EM 82; Alexandria, ABC 80, 82, 185, 535, 541 (Plate 8),

750, 811; AVG 2143 (inv. no. 15350).

88. *Babao..*
club

Plate 9

4 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 112 (Plate 9), 558; Antioch, al313- P 2031; Samaria,

Reisner
EXCAVATIONS IN SAMARIA {1924}, p. 316, 4.

89. *Basilei in frame*

Plate 9

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 878

90. *Basilei thunderbolt (πι) (ret.)*

Plate 9

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 1239.

91. a) *Basilei (διν.)*
b) device

Plate 9

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 494.

92. club
Basilei δον in frame

Plate 9

4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 72 (Plate 9), 450, 472 (Plate 9), 935.

93. Βεβαιο(feth)
club

Plate 9

1 ex., Delos: TD 2 155.

94. Βιβαιος (feth)
club

Plate 9

3 ex.: Rhodes, (from rubbing by Mr Benachi); Alexandria, ^a Lucas 2 MZ 292 ABC 1040;
94 bis club ¹⁰¹⁷ (Plate 9).
6 ex.: Rhodes: Cos 51
95. Βοισκο(

Plate 9

Plate 9

6 ex., Alexandria: ABC 60 (Plate 9), 782; AVG 875, 1058, 1075, 2111 (inv. no. 14351).

96. Βοισκο(

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 9

Die A, 1 ex., Cyprus: CMC 139.

Die B, 1 ex., of unknown finding place: BM 1925, 1-19, 389.

97. Βαχυπον

Plate 9

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 426.

98. Βοτρυον

³¹⁴ 12 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 9

Die A, ⁷⁸ 5 ex., Alexandria: ABC 94, 180, ³¹² 72, ¹⁰¹⁷ 6; AVG 859, 2112 (Plate 9).

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 1056 (Plate 9); Antioch, a 1314 - P 2032.

Die C, 4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 3, 567, 944; AVG 1071 (Plate 9).

Die unknown, 1 ex., Samaria: ^{Reisner} Samaria (1924), p.316, 9.

99. Βοτρυον
club

Plate 9

3 ex., Kos 37; Alexandria: ABC 292 (Plate 9), 510.

106. Δ caduceus

Pl. 10

¹³
¹² ex.: Alexandria, ABC 210 (Pl. 10), 236, 333, 368, 393, 524, 812, 1038, 1089;

AVG 2100 (inv. no. 4114); Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 120; Pergamon, Prott

and Kolbe, 1902, p. 149, no. 245; ~~of unknown finding-place~~, an ex. in the

Michaelides collection in Cairo, known to us from a rubbing kindly made by

P. M. Fraser.

107. Δα(

Pl. 10

⁵ ex.: Kos, no. 64; Alexandria, ABC 309 (Pl. 10), 363; AVG 871; Pantikapaion, grak.
K 50.

108. Δα(

Pl. 10

club

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 409.

109. Δάδα

Pl. 10

¹⁸ 1819¹⁹ ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 3 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 382; AVG 1243 (Pl. 10), 2103.

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 855; Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 32 (Pl. 10).

Die C, ³⁵ 4 ex.: Delos, TD 1116; Alexandria, ABC 392, 825; Nessana (Palestine), grak.
Ausa, AH 21

(Pl. 10). 1958 no. 14, pl. XXXVII (Pl. 10); Porthunion, TI 53-691; Mynakion, M/58-3048
Unknown die, ⁸ ex.: Pantikapaion, grak., K 51, 52; Pantikapaion (?), grak., K 54; Panthesion,
grak., K 53; Phanagoria, grak., K 54; Black Sea gr. K 55; Porthunia,
gr. K 56; Pergamon, H. Heidelberg Pl. 10
11

110. Δαρκ

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 752.

111. Δαρα((retr.)

Pl. 10

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 105, 941 (Pl. 10).

Ath. Mitt. XXVIII 1902, p. 149, 245; of unknown finding place, an example in Michaelides Collection in Cairo, (rubbing made by Mr. Fraser) ~~known from a rubbing kindly made by P. M. Fraser~~ ~~Plate XXX~~

107. $\Delta \alpha l$ Plate 10
 4 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 309 (Plate 10), 363; AVG 871.
 Cos, Cos 64;

108. $\Delta \alpha l$ club Plate 10
 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 409.

109. $\Delta \alpha \delta a(s)$ 9 examples from 3 different dies Plate 10
 Die A, 3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 382; AVG 1243 (Plate 10), 2103.

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 855; Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 32 (Plate 10).

Die C, 4 ex.: Delos, TD 1116; Alexandria, ABC 392 ~~Plate X~~, 825; Palestine,
 Auja AH 21 (Plate 10).

110. $\Delta \alpha p l$? Plate 10
 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 752.

111. $\Delta \alpha p a l$ (retro) Plate 10
 Die A
 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 105, 941 (Plate 10).

112. $\Delta \alpha p a l$ (retro) Plate 10
 Die B
 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 282.

113. $\Delta \alpha p a e p i o u$ club Plate 10
 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 765; AVG 974 (Plate 10).

114. $\Delta \alpha p o u$ club Plate 10
 3 ex.: Alexandria; ABC 1114 (pl. 11), 1923 Stansbury 93, fig 5 no. 99, listed by Jucker K58.
 The cane stamp appears on a broad rounded base all from Kt. ~~below~~ (Pl. 11)

Ath. Mitt. XXVIII, 1902, p.149, 245; of unknown finding place, an example in Michaelis Collection in Cairo, (rubbing made by Mr. Fraser). *the* ~~PLATE XIX~~

107.

Δαλ

Plate 10

q

(os, no. 64;

ex., Alexandria,

ABC 309 (Plate 10), 363; AVG 871.

108.

Δαλ
club

Plate 10

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 409.

109.

Δαδα

9 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 10

Die A, 3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 582; AVG 1243 (Plate 10), 2103.

Die B, 2 ex.; Alexandria, ABC 855; Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 32 (Plate 10).

Die C, 4 ex.: Delos TD 1116; Alexandria, ABC 392 ~~PLATE XIX~~, 825; Palestine,
Auja,

Auja AH 21 (Plate 10).

110.

Δαψ

Plate 10

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 752.

111.

Δαρα (retro)

Plate 10

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 105, 941 (Plate 10).

112.

Δαρα (retro)

Plate 10

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 282.

113.

Δαραςπιον

club

Plate 10

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 765; AVG 974 (Plate 10).

114. Δ αρέον

Plate 11

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 875; of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 393b (Plate 11)

115. Δ αρών

3 examples from ~~the~~ different dies

Plate 11

Die A, 1 ex., Delos: TD 4604 (Plate 11); Alexandria

Die B, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 529 (Plate 11); AVG 840.

116. Δ η (reh)

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 11

Die A 1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 2102 (inv. no. 4118). (Plate 11)

Die B, 1 ex., Cos: Cos 101 (Plate 11)

117. Δ καρδικός ν(

Plate 11

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 463.

22ex

65ex

66ex

118. Δ κορνυκία ν(

Plate 11

2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 879 (Plate 11); Naucratis, BM 1925, 9-20, 139.

119. Δ λύρη ν(

Plate 11

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 749; AVG 2101 (inv. no. 4117) (Plate 11).

120. Δ τριδέντη ν(

Plate 11

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 115.

121. Δ τριγόνη ν(

Plate 11

4³ ex.: Alexandria, AVG 853 (Plate 11), 2155 (inv. no. 15815); of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 596.

122. Δημητ^ρ(

1 ex., Delos: TD 2540.

12
Plate 21

123. * Δημητ^ρα
club

4 examples from 2 dies.

12
Plate 21

Alexandria, ABC 1092 (Pl. 12)

Die B

3 ex.: Athens, SS 12521 (MSBF ?), 12911 (MSBF); Antioch, Pa 608 - P 1640 (Plate 21)

Die A

124. Δημητ^ρον

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 21

Die A, 1 ex., Delos; ~~XTEK~~ Kent, DMR p. 133, pl. 46, no. 14 (Plate 21).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 275 (Plate 21).

12
Plate 21

125. Δημητ^ρην(

club

2 ex.; Alexandria, ABC 428; Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-2-0, 29 (Plate 21).

125bis. Δημητ^ρην(ret.)

348

2 examples from 2 different dies

12
Plate 21

Die A, 1 ex.: Kos, ~~Kos~~ 106;

Alexandria, ABC 286 (Plate 21); Chersonesos, Grakov K 61; Pantikapaion, Grakov, K 62.

Die B, 1 ex.: Delos, TD 6228

Alexandria, AVG 982 (Plate 21); Istria, V. Canarache, p. 281, 721.

127. Δημητ^ρ[(ret.)

13
Plate 22

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 285

128. Δημητ^ρη[(ret.)

13
Plate 22

2 ex.: Kos, Maiuri 1925, Maiuri, p. 247, 5; Alexandria, ABC 135 (Plate 22)

129. Δημητ^ρη[?

13
Plate 22

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 293

125bis

129

Δημητ^ρη in frame
club

1 ex.: Myrmekion, M 146-129,

Ex.: Alexandria, ABC 319, 962 (Plate 12).

12
Plate 12

122. Δυν[τ]

Plate 11

1 ex., Delos: TD 2540.

123. Δυνέα[ρ]

Plate 11

3 ex.: Athens, SS 12381 (MSBF ?), 12911 (MSBF); Antioch, Pa 608 - P 1640 (Plate 11)

124. Δυνέον

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 11

Die A, 1 ex., Delos, ¹⁹⁵³ XXX Kent, ~~Die~~ p. 153, pl. 46, no. 14, (Plate 11).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria, ABC 275 (Plate 11).

125. Δυνη[τ]

Plate 11

2 ex.; Alexandria, ABC 428; Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-2_0, 29 (Plate 11).

126. Δυνη[τη] ³⁴

² examples from 2 different dies

Plate 11

Die A, ² ex.: Alexandria, ABC 2_86 (Plate 11).

Die B, ² ex.: Alexandria, AVG 982 (Plate 11); Istria, V. Canarache, p. 281, 721.

127. Δυνη[τη]

Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 285

128. Δυνη[τη] (ret)

Plate 12

2 ex.: Cos, ^{Maini, 1925,} Nuova Sill., p. 247, 5; Alexandria, ABC 135 (Plate 12)

129. Δυνη[τη]?

Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 293

130.

Plate 12

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 319, 902 (Plate 12).

132. Δημητρίου

(19)

retyped
page 19-19ter

Plate 12
[1.24]

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 319, 962 (Plate 12).

130 bis Δημητρίου 2 examples from 2 different dies Plate 12

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 696 (Plate 12)

Die B, 1 ex., Kos: GK 40 (Plate 12)

130 ter Δημητρίου

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1001.

134 bis Δημητρίου club (petr.)

1 ex., Kos: GK 48.

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 704 (Plate 12).

136. Δημητρίου

club

Alexandria?

2 ex.: Athens, EM 85; Alexandria, AVG 1093 (Plate 12).

Plate 12

137. Δημήτριον rose

Plate 12

1 ex., Athens: EM 13.

138. Δημητρίου tridakt. os (petr.)

Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 258.

130. Δημοςιον

(19)

retyped page 19-19 ter
Plate 12
[1,24]

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 319, 962 (Plate 12),

130 bis

Δημοσιον (ον) 2 examples from 2 different dies Plate 12

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 696 (Plate 12)

Die B, 1 ex., Kos: 6^K 40 (Plate 12)

130^{ter}

Δημοσιον (ον) ου

Plate 12

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1001.

134 bis

Δημος
πιονιαν (οντι.)

Plate 12

1 ex., Kos: 6^K 48.

130. Δημητρίου

3 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 12

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 696 (Plate 12).

Die B, 2 ex., Alexandria; ABC 319, 962 (Plate 12).

131. Δημητρίου (ret.)

Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 76.

132. Δημητρίου (ret.)

Plate 12

4 ex., Alexandria; ABC 96, 397, 695 (Plate 12), 789.

133. Δημητρίου (ret.)

Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 805.

134. Δημητρίου club

Plate 12

2 ex. of unknown finding place; BM 1925, 1-19, 408 (Plate 12), 1925, 1-19, 392.

134 bis

135. club Δημητρίου

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 12

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC AVG 868 (Plate 12).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 704 (Plate 12).

136. Δημητρίου
club

Alexandria?

Plate 12

2 ex.: Athens, EM 85; Alexandria, AVG 1093 (Plate 12).

137. Δημητρίου rose

Plate 12

1 ex., Athens: EM 13.

138. Δημητρίου
tridentos (ret.)

Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 258.

Indentation wrong.

L-26

150. Δημήτριον 3 examples from 2 different dies Plate 12

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 696 (Plate 12).

Die B, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 319, 962 (Plate 12).

151. Δημήτριον (retro) Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 76.

152. Δημήτριος (retro) Plate 12

4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 96, 397, 695 (Plate 12), 789.

153. Δημήτριον (retro) Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 805.

154. Δημήτριον club Plate 12

2 ex.: of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 408 (Plate 12), 1925, 1-19, 392.

155. club Δημήτριον 2 examples from 2 different dies Plate 12

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC AVG 868 (Plate 12).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 704 (Plate 12).

156. Δημήτριον club Plate 12

2 ex.: Athens, EM 85; Alexandria, AVG 1093 (Plate 12).

157. Δημήτριον rose Plate 12

1 ex., Athens: EM 13.

158. Δημήτριον tunic? os (retro) Plate 12

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 258.

139. *Δ mitratus*

Plate 12

3 ex.: Athens, EM 14; Alexandria, ABC 45 (Plate 12), 158 (Plate 12).

AHMHTPIOΣ ? on same stamp with eponym ΑΙΟΡΕΝΗΣ see under no.

140. Δ (

Plate 13

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 168, 190 (Plate 13).

141. Δ (in round stamp

Plate 13

✓ 1 ex., of unknown finding place: BM 1925, 1-19, 609.

142. Δ caducus (

Plate 13

7 ex.: Athens, EM 15, ~~16~~ 90; Alexandria, ABC 125, 322; AVG 870, 961, 1053 (Plate 13)

143. caducus Δ (

Plate 13

1 ex., Naucratis; BM 1955, 9-20, 150.

144. cluster with leaf Δ (

Plate 13

1 ex., Athens: SS 2809.

145. cornucopia Δ (

Plate 13

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 501 (Plate 13); Naucratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 39.

146. Δ thunderbolt (

Plate 13

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 6 (Plate 13), 145.

147. Δ thunderbolt with
barbed handle (

Plate 13

3 ex.: Athens, SS 5174 (Plate 13); Alexandria, ABC 785, 1026.

retypel p 21-22.

148. Δ tripod (

14
Plate 13

3 ex.: Athens, SS 3851; Alexandria, ABC 492 (Plate 15); AVG 872.

149. Διο(crosswise

14
Plate 13

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 969 (stamp set crosswise)

150. Διο[(retu) 2 ex. from 2 dies

14
Plate 13

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 91.

151. Διο[(retu)

14
Plate 13

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 395.

152. Διογ(Samas: Herodotus hist. I 629.

14
Plate 15
14
Plate 13

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 335. unread

153. Διογε((retu) 2 examples from 2 different dies

14
Plate 13

Die A, 1 ex., Delos: TD 2291 (Plate 15).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 502 (Plate 15).

154. Διογ(on paper

Plate 14/13/14

XXXXXXΑΛΕΞΑΝΔΡΙΑXXXXXX

155.

XXXXXX

ΙΧΟΣΑΛΕΞΑΝΔΡΙΑΙΧΑΒΓΧΙΧ.

155 on next page

156.

Plate 13

157. Διογε[(retu)

Plate 14

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 85, 240 (Plate 14).

158. Διο[(retu)
club

Plate 14

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 496.

148. Δ tripod []

Plate 13

3 ex.: Athens, SS 3851; Alexandria, ABC 492 (Plate 13); AVG 872.

149. Δ. o. [crosswise

Plate 13

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 969 (stamp set crosswise)

150. Δ. o. [(reh.)

Plate 13

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 91.

151. Δ. o. [(reh.)

Plate 13

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 395.

151. bis Δ. o. γ[

1 ex., Samos: Katalog 169, I 689.

152. Δ. o. γ[

Plate

Plate 13

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 335.

153. Δ. o. γ[(reh.)

2 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 13

Die A, 1 ex., Delos: TD 2291 (Plate 13).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 502 (Plate 13).

154.

P1079/P1071/14

XIIIIII, XAIIEKHNAPIA, XIIIIIIIXX

155.

Plate 13

IKEV, XAIIEKHNAPIA, XXBXXIXX

156.

PISTAXIS

154. Δ. o. γ[(reh.)

Plate 14

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 85, 240 (Plate 14).

~~K65
155.~~ Διογένης

Plate 14

1 ex., Athens: EM 16.

~~156.~~ Διογένου (reh.)

Plate 14

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 557

~~157.~~ Διογέ[
τα?]

Plate 14

3 ex.: Athens, SS 428; Chios, VG 65; Alexandria, ABC 165 (Plate 14).

~~158.~~ Διογέν[υ]

Plate 14

~~158 bis~~ 1 ex., Athens: SS 13429.

~~159.~~ Επί Διογένου

Plate 14

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC AVG 962.

~~160.~~ Διογένου
Επί Διο-

Plate 14

1 ex., Delos: TD 6171

~~161;~~ Διογένου

Plate 14

Διογένου
(οικοδεσμοί)

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 711, (plate 14), 997.

~~162.~~ Διογένου
Ανθρωποι?

Plate 14

1 ex., Delos: TD 4934.

163. Επι Διογ
ενον Επια
(ret)

Plate 14

3/ 2 ex., Athens: SS # 4593; EM 29 (Plate 14); Pella: A 410

164. Διοδοτος

Plate 14

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 62.

165. a) trident
b) Διοδοτον (ret.)
Olbia Pridi K, 1917,

Plate 14

1 ex., ~~Neron~~ (?) Herm. 142, 35 and pl. XIV, 8. (The fac-simile shows AI which is cut on the photo of Plate XIV; 8)

166. Διοδοτος

Plate 14

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 92.

167. Διοδηπον

Plate 14

1 ex., Italy, Cosa: 1950, CB 1278.

168.

Διοδηπον καδυρον (ret.)

Plate 14

4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 42 (Plate 14), 252 (Plate 14), 308, 755.

169. Διονυσιας

line
inside (ret.)
(well L14:2, late Roman)?

Plate 15

9 ex.: Athens, SS # 2458, 3005, 9381 (cistern B 20 : 2, filled before about 150 B.C.).

10767, 12626 (Plate 15), 14082 (well O 16: 3, filled before about 210 B.C.), a whole jar, on which see above, pp. Athens (ret.)
; EM 19; Alexandria (ret.) EM 92; Alexandria, ABC 288.

170. Διονυ
σιον

2 ex., Alexandria: AVG 1091, 2098 (inv. no. 4058) (Plate 15).

A remarkably similar stamp (pl. 15) appears on a small medicine flask (o) below.

171.

a) ΔΙΟΥ
διού

b) ΔΔΔΔΔ

Plate 15

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 672 (Plate 15). The same stamp b appears on a broad (not double) ribbed handle (Agora, SS 8090, from deposit U 22: 1, fill B) (Plate 15).

172.

ΔΙΟΥΔΙΟΣ

Plate 15

3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 151 (Plate 15), 919; AVG 984. (whole handle preserved. H. 20).

173.

ΔΙΟΥΔΙΟΣ

Plate 15

X4XEXXXXXXXALEXANDRIAXXXXXXX400,862,XXAVGX903X(Plate 15)XSICILY,XSERRAORLANDOXEE-X

5 ex.: Athens, EM 18; Alexandria, ABC 400, 862; AVG 903 (Plate 15); Sicily,

Serra Orlando 55- 2725.

174.

ΔΙΟΥΔΙΟΣ

13 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 15

Die A, 5 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 4, 500 (Plate 15), 546, 819; of unknown finding

place, BM 1925, 1-19, 406.

Die B, 8 ex.: ^{Alexandria,} Athens, EM 80; ~~Alexandria~~, ABC 39 (Plate 15), 520, 359, # 429,

532; AVG 2134 (inv.no.15793); of unknown finding place, BM 1955, 9-20, 245.

175.

ΔΙΟΥΔΙΟΣ
trident

Plate 15

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 1086.

176.

* ΔΙΟΣ lyre

Plate 15

5 ex.: Athens, SS 522, 12196 (Plate 15), 12975 (MSBF?); Alexandria, ABC 22;

^{unknow}
the exact finding place Philik, 1917,

Kerch, Horn, p.111, 213. Note the same stamp on Rhodian handles with the same clay(

(Agora, SS 12417 (MSBF) (Plate 15); Delos, TD 5223; and a third example published by Skorpil, Bull. de l'Inst. Arch. Bulg. 1934, p.27, fig.19 no.81.) and on a handle of unknown origin (Agora, SS 13777)

177. Διοσκουρίδον

Plate 15

5 ex., Alexandria: ABC 516 (Plate 15), 701, 814, 967; AVG 860.

178. Διοσκουρίδον (ret.)

Plate 15

6 ex., Alexandria: ABC 56, 253, 305, 362, 509, (Plate 15), 838, 2 impressions (Plate 15).

179. Διογατ

6
Plate 15

lex., Alexandria: ABC 784.

180. Διογαν(

6
Plate 15

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 709.

181. Διώνος

Plate 16

5 ex.: Athens, EM 21; Delos, TD 3725; Alexandria, ABC 102; AVG 850 (Plate 16);

Nessana, (Palestine) Grace, 1958, no. 15, pl. XXXVII
Palestine, Arja AH 230, Kerch, Skorpil, Bull. Com. Inst. Arch. Bulg. 1904, II, p. 117, 425 (2 ex) and
p. 145, 637 (2 ex)

182. Δορκυ[δ]ος
a club

Plate 16

1 ex., Cos: Cos 148.

183. Δράκοντος

Plate 16

1 ex., Cos: Cos 4.

184.

Plate 16

184. $\Delta p\alpha\kappa\omega$ [device] E

Plate 16

b) small part of stamp preserved.

1 ex., Athens; EM 22.

$\Delta p\omega\kappa\omega$ (v)

185.

Plate 16

$\frac{3}{2}$ ex.; Alexandria, AVG 1052, 2097 (inv.no. 4057) (Plate 16); Tyres, El. Skarman no. 95.

186.

$\Delta p\omega\kappa\omega v.$ (reh.)

Plate 16

187. $\Delta wpi\mu\alpha\chiou$ 187.
Kw(1ov)
(reh.)

Plate 16

$\frac{3}{2}$ ex.: Cos, Cos 79; Athens, SS 12618 (Plate 16); Alexandria; ABC 1029.

188.

$\Delta wpi\omega v$

4 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 16

Die A, 1 ex., Naucratis: BM 1955, 9-20, 135 (Plate 16).

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 908 (Plate 16); Nessana (Palestine), Grace, 1958, no. 16 pl. XXXVII
Palestine, Auja AB 38. Die B is

very close to die A.

Die C, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 466 (Plate 16).

189. $\Delta wpi\omega v$
(reh.)

Plate 16

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 95, 898 (Plate 16).

190. $\Delta wpo\theta\lambda\omega$

(Plate 16)

Plate 16

4 ex.: Delos, TD 5090; Alexandria, ABC 166, 175; AVG 2099 (inv. no. 4081)

Cf. same reading but different reading lettering on pilgrim flasks from Agora (P 10806,
13690).

191. Δωρού

Plate 16

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 406. The stamp on a pilgrim flask from Athens (Nat. mus. 2236) is closely similar.

192. Δωρού (reth.)

Plate 16

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 452 .

193. Δωρεαν Θεου

Plate 16

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 909; of unknown finding place, BM 192 5, 1-19, 798 (Plate

(Plate 16).

193 bis

IMX.

Stamps with the letter E (epsilon) see under no. 89,
(~~ΒΑΣΙΛ~~ ΣΑΤΥΡΟΣ; ΣΩΠΑΤΡΟΣ).

194. E tripod

Plate 17

3 ex., Alexandria: ABC 31, 865; AVG 971 (Plate 17).

195. Εἰσιν(ν)

3 examples from 3 different dies

Plate 17

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 66 (Plate 17)

Die B, { 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 68 (Plate 17).

Die C, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 690 (Plate 17).

196. Εκατα(ον)

Plate 17

1 ex., Alexandria: ~~ABC~~ AVG 968.(Plate 17). A remarkably similar stamp appears

IMX on a broad (not double) handle (Alexandria , Ben. Coll. ~~N/125X~~ M/126)(Plate 17).

197. Εκαται(ον)

Plate 17

1 ex., Corinth: C-48-10 (South Stoa Well 22), a whole jar, on which see above ,
PP. (Plate 17).

198. *Eka*
~~zai~~*ou*

4 examples from ~~2~~ different dies

Plate 17

Die A,

, 2 ex.: Athens, SS 7783; Alexandria, ABC 71 (Plate 17).

(with pottery as late as 3rd cent. B.C.)

Die B, 2 ex.: Delos, TD 5415 (Plate 17); Alexandria, ABC 273.

An example from Alexandria (ABC 766) may represent a third die.

199. *Eka*
~~zai~~*(o)s* (reh)

Plate 17

5 exa: Delos, TD 1925; Alexandria, ABC 399 (Plate 17), 314, 560, 565.

200. *Eka*
~~zai~~*(o)s* framed
(reh)

Plate 17

5 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 8, 160, 346 (Plate 17); AVG 865; Naucratis, BM 1955,
9-20, 133.

201. *Eka*
~~zai~~*ou*
dub

Plate 17

12 ex.: Cos, Cos 67, 107, 126; Calymnos (Newton's investigations 1856), BM 1955,
9-20, 318; Alexandria, ABC 347, 376, 703, 863 (Plate 17), 939; AVG 862; Naucratis,
BM 1955, 9-20, 318; of unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 421.

202. [Eka]
~~zai~~*ou*
dub retrograde and inverted

Plate 17

1 ex., Alexandria; ABC 970. Very close to type no. 201.

203. *Eka*
~~zai~~*(ou)*
dub

Plate 17

1 ex., Athens: SS 4487 (deposit K 6-7 : 1, dated in the 3rd quarter of the 3rd c. BC)

A similar stamp appears on a broad (not double) handle: E&E 2 ex.; Cos, Cos 251;

Alexandria, N/18 of the Benachi inventory (Plate 17).

203 bis *Eka*
~~zai~~*[?]*
dub

Plate 17

1 ex., Cos; Cos 97.

204. Εκατοστόπους?

Plate 18

1 ex., Alexandria: AVG 1064.

205.* Επικούρου

Plate 18

205bis. 1 ex. ~~XXI~~ ~~Alexandria~~ ~~XXX~~ Athens: SS 12977 (MSBF).

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1048.

206. Επικούρου

Plate 18

206bis. 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 519.

207. Επικούρου (άνω)

Plate 18

1 ex., Cos: Cos 5.

208. Επηρού

Plate 18

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 172.

209. Επφαιού

Plate 18

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 692.

210. Επφαιού

Plate 18

1 ex., Naucratis: BM 1955, 9-20, 136.

211. Επφαιού lyre

4 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 18

Die A, 2 ex., Alexandria: ~~XXII~~ ABC 114; AVG 883 (Plate 18).

Die B, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 93 (Plate 18), 289.

212. Επφαιού

Plate 18

2 ex., Athens: EMZ 26, 27 (Plate 18).

213. Eppi

(reh)

1 ex., Palestine: Auja AH 37.

Plate 18

214. Eppia radiatus up

4 examples from 2 different dies

Plate 18

Die A, 3 ex.: Cos, Cos 26; Athens, EM 28 (Plate 18); Alexandria, AVG 830.

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 121 (Plate 18).

215. a) Eppias

b) ΣΙΓΕΣΑ

1 ex., Samaria: ^{Reisner} Samaria (1924), p. 316, 8.

Plate 18

216. Epho [

Plate 18

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 778.

216bis Ephoγένεις

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 1035

217. Ephoγ[ενις] (reh)

Plate 18

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 100. A device(?), only partly impressed, seems to

have preceded the epsilon in the die.

218. Epho_{okl}

lub

Plate 18

1 ex., Cos: Cos 115.

219. Epho

Kpa_{co(s)} amphora
(reh)

Plate 18

3 ex.: Athens, EM 74; Rhodes, BM 1955, 9-20, 259, already published in IG XII,1,

South Russia, funerary finds at Pridik, 1917

no. 1297. (Plate 18); Kerch, ^{Germ.} p. 110, 209 (restored as Δερο_{ko} but presumably

it is type no. 219).

220. $\text{E} \rho \mu \nu \rho \alpha$ $\omega \delta \nu \epsilon \mu \nu$
 $\tau \omega \nu$
(reh.)

Plate 18²⁰

1 ex., Athens: SS 13619.

221. $\text{E} \rho \mu \nu \rho \alpha$
club

Plate 19

1 ex., Athens: SS 6777.

222. $\text{E} \rho \mu \nu \nu \omega \sigma$ (reh.)
two dolphins

Plate 19

2 ex.: Chersones, Pridik, 1917,
222 $\text{E} \rho \mu \nu \tau$ (reh.) in frame
ex., Alexandria: ABC 444

plate 20

223. $\text{E} \sigma \tau \iota \alpha \iota \omega \nu$

20
Plate 18

1 ex., Athens: SS 6193.

224. $\text{E} \sigma \tau \iota \alpha \iota \omega \nu$
club

20
Plate 18

2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 241 (Plate 19), 327 (Plate 20).
224 bis $\text{E} \sigma \tau$ [reh.]
1 ex., Nessana (Palestine) Grace, 1958, no. 18, pl. XXXVII

Plate 20.
Plate 19

225. Asterisk \vee a vertical line after epsilon
(reh.)

20
Plate 19

2 (?) ex.: Alexandria, AV G 1108 ~~XPIKTEXXII~~ Handle marked "P. 6171", found with
other numbered handles (Plate 19); Samaria, ^{Reisner} Samaria (1924), p. 316, 13 probably not
identical.

-- $\text{E} \nu$ see under $\Sigma \mu \alpha \omega \rho \sigma$, $\odot\odot$.

226. $\text{E} \nu \alpha \rho \chi [\odot\odot ?]$
letter I

20
Plate 18

1 ex., Kos: K 83 (Plate 19). A similar stamp appears on a broad not double
handle from Kos, $\odot\odot$ below (Pl. 19).

227.* [device] $\text{E} \nu \alpha \rho \chi \omega \nu$

20
Plate 18

1 ex., Athens: SS 12976 (MSBF).

220. Ερυξός καδύνος.
two
(reh.)

Plate 18

1 ex., Athens: SS 13619.

221. Ερυξός
club

Plate 19

1 ex., Athens: SS 6777.

222. Ερυξός (reh.)
two dolphins

Plate 19

Chersonesos, PridiK, 1917,

1 ex., Kerch: Herm. p. 111, 227.

222 bis Ερυξός (reh.)

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 444

223 Εστιάον

Plate 19

Plate 19

1 ex., Athens: SS 6193.

224. Εστιάον
club

Plate 19

224 bis Εστιάον (reh.)
2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 241 (Plate 19), 327.

Plate 19

1 ex., Nessa (Palestine), grae, 1958, no. 18, pl. XXXVII

225. Εστιάον v [a vertical line after εστιάον]
(reh.)

Plate 19

2 (?) ex.: Alexandria, AV G 1108 (ΕΙΣΤΙΑΟΝ). Handle marked "P. 6171", found with

other numbered handles) (Plate 19); Samaria, Σαμαρία (1924) P. 316, C 13 probably not

identical.

-- Ev see under Σωταρός (600).

226. Ειαπχ[ον?
letter II

Plate 19

1 ex., Cos: Cos 83 (Plate 19). A similar stamp appears on a broad not double handle (Cos, Cos 154, Plate 19).

227. ινε] Ειαπχον

Plate 19

1 ex., Athens: SS 12976 (MSBF).

228.

EὐΣάπον

Pl. 19

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC/ 283 .

229.

EὐΣάπον
club

Pl. 19

5 ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 3 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 67 (Pl. 19), 474; Acre ^{region} (Israel), inv. no. R/1287/48 (Pl. 19)

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 487 (Pl. 19).

Die C, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 490 (Pl. 19).

230.

club
EὐΣάπον

Pl. 19

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 507.

231.

device EὐΣάπον device The name in frame Pl. 19

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 377 (Pl. 19), 897 (Pl. 19).

232.

letter Δ
EὐΝερπόν (rel.)

Pl. 19

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 55.

233.

Eὐινον

Pl. 19/20

2 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 45 (Pl. 20).

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 408 (Pl. 20).

234.

Eὐινον
small club

Pl. 20

1 ex.: Cos, K 93.

234 bis

Eὐινον
device

1 ex.: Palestine (exact finding place not known), inv. no. 32.2502

(235)

E³vou

Pl. 20

1 ex.: X Panticapaeon, Skorpil, Bull. Comm. Imp. Arch. 1904, 11, p. 146, 640.

(236)

E³vou
club

Pl. 20

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 845. A similar stamp appears on a broad (non double)

(237)

club
E³vou (club)

Pl. 20

2 ex.: Kos, K 114; Rhodes, MZ 284 (Pl. 20).

(238)

E³vou

Pl. 20

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 757 (Pl. 20), 885.

(239)

E³vou(ns) (club)

Pl. 20

1 ex.: Alexandria, VG 1063.

(240)

E³vou

Pl. 20

3 ex. from 2 dies.

add deposit →

Die A, 1 ex.: Athens, SS 10874 (

; Pl. 20).

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 964 (Pl. 20); AVG 891.

(241)

E³vou

Pl. 20

5 ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, 428 (pl. 20).

(241)

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 998 (Pl. 20).

Die C, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 898 887, AVG 899 (Pl. 20).

Die unknown, 1 ex.: Samaria, J.W. Crowfoot, {1957}, p.

242

Eύνοισ (etc.)

PL 20//

Pl. 20

1 ex.: Athens, SS 377 (Grace, 1934, p. 281, no. 237; here Pl. 20).

(243)

Eύν[πι]σα?

Pl. 21

2

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 495, (41.)

Eύνισα (reh.)

Pl. 21

(244)

2 ex.: Athens, SS 763 (Pl. 21); Alexandria, AVG 895 (Pl. 21).

(245)

a) Ια

Pl. 21

b) Εύτυν(

1 ex.; Athens, EM 31.

(246)

Eύτυν(

Pl. 21

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 122 .

(247)

Eύτυν(

Pl. 21

6 ex. From 3 dies.

Die A, 6 ex.: Athens, SS 12913 (MSBF; Pl. 21); Alexandria, ABC 149; Naukratis,

BM 1955, 9-20, 23.

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 266 (Pl. 21); AVG 1072. A similar stamp appears on

broad (non double) handle from Athens, SS 7985, 0000 below (Pl. 21).

(247)

Die C, 1 ex.: Istria, Canarache, p. 278, fig. 49.

1957

(248)

E[u]v[x]os
double

Pl. 21

1 ex.: Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 115, 2 impressions (Pl. 21). A similar stamp appears on broad (non double) handle from Athens, SS 815, ~~815~~ below (Pl. 21).

(249)

E[u]v[x]os

Pl. 21

2 ex.: Kos, K 130 (Pl. 21); Akragas, IG. ~~XIV~~ XIV, 2 393, 258, 2 impressions.

There is no statement that this is a double handle, but the line between the two impressions suggests two halves of a handle.

(250)

E[u]v[x]os
clue

Pl. 21

1 ex.: Athens, SS 14081.

(251)

E[u]v[x]os (ret.)

Pl. 21

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 106, 459 (Pl. 21).

(252)

E[u]v[x]os

Pl. 21

5 ex.: Athens, SS 1961 (Pl. 21), 12293 (MSBF); EM 32; Alexandria, ABC 343;
Pantikapaion, Pridik, 1917, p. 111, 241.

(253)

Euzuxou
club?

Pl. 21

1 ex.: Unknown finding-place, BM 1955, 9-20, 523 (Pl. 21). The lettering is very similar to (252).

(254)

club
Euzuxou

Pl. 21

3 ex.: Athens, SS/2391 (Pl. 21); Alexandria, ABC 300 (Pl. 21); AVG 845.

(255)

Eiyanioy (ret.)

Pl. 22

1 ex.: Unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, 433.

(256)

'Ewsgo(

Pl. 22

3 ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 881 (Pl. 22).

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 48 (Pl. 22).

die C.

Die C, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1012 (Pl. 22). Die C is slightly different from die B.

(257)

Zne((ret) in frame

Pl. 22

6 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 50, 686; AVG 844 (Pl. 22), 892, 1084; Unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, 601.

(258)

Znuvo(cluster?

Pl. 23

2 ex.: Athens, SS 11771 (Pl. 22), 12729 (MSBF; Pl. 22); ²³
flex

(259)

Znuvwvos

Pl. 24

⁶
⁴
~~ex, from 2 dies.~~Die A, ³
² ex.: Alexandria, AVG 835 (Pl. 22), 842; Athens, Eridik, Att Mitt. 1896, p. 133, 36Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 887 (Pl. 22).Die C, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1032 (Pl. 22). ²⁴ A remarkably similar stamp appears
Die D, ³
² ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1032 (Pl. 22). [on p. 37 Gis]

(260)

Zw.. [(reh.)

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 28.

(261)

Zwi(~~soo~~) (reh.)

Pantikapaeon

1 ex.: Kertch, Skorpil, 1904, p. 146, 641. The author restores Zwi(~~soo~~). Listed by
grakov, K 113.

(262)

Zw^τπv[~~soo~~][?]

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 27.

(263)

Zw^τπv(post)

Pl. 24

²⁴
² ex. from 2 dies.Die A, ²
¹ ex.: Kos, K 27 (Pl. 22); Myrenkion, M/56-1591.Die B, 1 ex.: Samos, Tigris I 972 (Pl. 22); Moon.Die C, 1 ex.: Samos, Tigris I 1003 (Pl. 24)Zw^τπv(post)
bar

Pl. 24

6.X.60
add type
of Zw^τπv.
bar from
Prasini excav.
of 1960. AVG 869 (Pl. 25).2 ex.: Kos, K 90 (Pl. 23; whole handle preserved, Ht. ca. 0.16); Alexandria,

(continuation)

Die C, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1032 (Pl. 22²⁴).
~~A~~

Die D, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 907 (Pl. 24²⁴).
~~A~~

A remarkably similar stamp appears on a broad (non-double) handle from Alexandria,
The same reading, with cursive omega,
dria, (10) below. (Pl. 26²⁴).
~~A~~

(258)

Znvo(*insta?*

Pl. 22

2 ex.: Athens, SS 11771 (Pl. 22), 12729 (MSBF; Pl. 22).

(259)

Znvwvos

Pl. 22

3 ex., from 2 dies.

Die A, 2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 835 (Pl. 22), 842.Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 887 (Pl. 22).

(260)

Zw..l (reh)

Pl. 22

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 28.

(261)

Zwi(~~zoo~~ reh)1 ex.: Panticapaeon
Kertch, Skorpil, 1904, p. 146, 641. The author writes Zwif^{zoo}.

(262)

Zw^ztu[po³]?

Pl. 22

1 ex.: Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 27.

(263)

Zw^ztu(po³)

Pl. 22

2 ex., from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Kos, K 27 (Pl. 22).

HAT

Die B, 1 ex.: Samos, I 972 (Pl. 22).

(264)

Zw^ztu(po³)
bar

Pl. 23

2 ex.: Kos, K 90 (Pl. 23; whole handle preserved, Ht. ca. 0.16); Alexandria,
AVG 869 (Pl. 23).

(265)

Zωτίνιον
club

Pl. 23

3 ex. from 2 dies.

→ Die A, 2 ex.: Kos, K 53 (Pl. 23); Samos,

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 976 (Pl. 23).

(266)

Zωτίνιον
club, rosette

Pl. 23

6 ex.: Athens, SS 1648 (Pl. 23), 5837, 15781 (~~pp~~ filling H-I 14: , ~~dated~~

1st Half of 2nd cent. B.C.); Abdera, Abd. 313; Alexandria, ABC 991; AVG 848 (Pl. 23).

(267)

Zωτίνιον

Pl. 23

5 ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 268 (Pl. 23).

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 198; unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, ~~ppp~~/

438 (Pl. 23).

Die C, 2 ex.; Kos, K 104 (Pl. 23); unknown finding-place, BM 192~~3~~⁵, 1-19, 12₃

(Pl. 23).

(268)

Zωτίξιον (rel.)

Pl. 23

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 370.† Evidently for Zωτίξιον. See (270)

Betw. types, 4 spaces
reading + commentary, 3 spaces - 39 -

(269) 2 ex.: Zwēixou (reh) orig. 2 1.50

Betw. lines, 3 spaces

2 ex.: Tyras, Staerman, 1951, no. 113; South Russia (the exact finding-place
is unknown), Pridik, 1917, p. 33, 836.

4 spaces

(270)

Zwēixou (reh)

Pl. 2 3

6
100¹ (Pl. 23).

(271)

H 2 spaces
lyre 3 spaces

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 559.

(272)

'Hpa(

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Kos, K 44. (Pl. 24) Published by Maiuri, 1925, p. 247, 6.

(273)

--- Type combining 'Hpa[with Map[, see 000].

4 spaces

4 spaces

'Hpa<>(in frame
3 spaces

Pl. 2 4

6 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 340, 720, 732, 795, 857; AVG 401 (Pl. 24).

Hgaszen

(274)

'Hpa<>(club?

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Delos, TD 851. Cf. - Arcitacpos, (39), and Mōxos, for similar
arrangement. (394)

9/15

Pl. 24

(269)

Zwetikov (red)

Pl. 23

2 ex.: Tyrras, Staerman, 1951, no. 113; South Russia (the exact finding-place is unknown), Pridik, 1917, p. 33, 836.

(270)

Zwetikov (red)

Pl. 23

2 ex.: Corinth, C-48-7 (South Stoa, Well 22); Pl. 23); Alexandria, ABC 380,
1001⁶ (Pl. 25).

(271)

~~Hypa~~ H
lyre

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 559.

(272)

'Hpa(

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Kos, K 44. Published by Maiuri, 1925, p. 247, 6.

-

Hp. L. see also under (273)

(273)

'Hpa₂(in frame

Pl. 24

6 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 340, 720, 732, 795, 857; AVG 401 (Pl. 24).

(274)

'Hpa₂(lab?

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Delos, TD 851. Cf. Arctinaepon, (39) and Moaxa for similar arrangement.

(275)

Pl. 24

(275)

Ὑρωδα
club

Pl. 24

2

On

1 ex.: Abdera, Abd. 312.

(276)

Ὑρωδα
trident?

Pl. 24

4 ex.: Kos, K 112; Athens, SS 12554 (construction filling of South Stoa II,

~~M-N 15 : 1, 1st half of 2nd cent. B.C.~~ ~~ΙΧΡΙΚΑΣ~~; Alexandria, ABC 34 (Pl. 24);

Istria, Canarache, 1957, p.280, 715. A similar stamp appears on a broad (non-double)

handle from Memphis, ~~ΑΒΓ/1-149, Η/11795~~, (277) below (Pl. 24).

μουσική
νοιτική
μητέλη

ΝΔ

(277)
278

[Θ]εοδότου
[Ε]πιστάτου

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 669. ~~For~~ ^{On} the title, see p.

(279)
280

Θ(ε)οδώρο[ν]

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 324.

(279)

Θεοδώ
ρον

1 ex.: Athens, Pridik, 1896, p. 177, 11.

(275)

'Hpw̄sa
club

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Abdera, Abd. 312.

(276)

'Hpw̄sa
trident?

Pl. 24

4 ex.: Kos, K 112; Athens, SS 12554 (construction filling of South Stoa II,

~~M-N 15 : 1~~, 1st half of 2nd cent. B.C.); Alexandria, ABC 34 (Pl. 24);

Istria, Canarache, 1957, p.280, 715. A similar stamp appears on a broad (non double) handle from Memphis, 29-VI-149, M 11795A, (○○○) below (Pl. 24).

~~Here
no. 281~~

Pl.

(277)

Θεοδότου
επιστάτου

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 669. ^{On} For the title, see p.

(278)

Θεοδώρου

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 324.

(279)

Θεοδώρου

1 ex.: Athens, Pridik, 1896, p. 177, 11.

(280)

281

Θεοκτῖνς
rose

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 486.

out of place
 shoulder follows me.
 (276) 277

(281)

277

Θεο[~~κ~~]τινς
trident

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 233.

(282)

Θεσσαγού

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 990.

(283)

a) Ἐπὶ Θεσσαγοῦ in frame

Pl. 24

b) ^{2 spines} Σκόττας

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 900. stamp (b) is inverted, on the
upper rib.

(284)

Θεν(

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K/48/ K 47.

(285)

286

Θεν[
asterisk
]τα[

Pl. 25
24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 54.

g. 000 below

(ABC 170)

286

A
? O + L miss R

(280)

Θεοκτῖνος
nose

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 486.

(281)

Θεοκτῖνος?
trident

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 233.

(282)

Θεσσαλοῦ

Pl. 24

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 990.

(283)

a) Επι Θεσσαλοῦ in frame Pl. 24
b) Σκόττας inverted, on upper ab

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 900.

(284)

Θεοῦ

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K/48/ K 47.

(285)

Θεοῦ
apterysk
frag

Pl. 24⁵

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 54.

286

(286)
285

a) Θευ(ret.)
b) club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K # 41.

(287)

Θευ[
club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Athens, SS 4605 (cistern shaft E 15 : 4, other handles of the 1st quarter of the 2nd cent. B.C. ; whole handle preserved, Ht. 0.145, W. 0.041, apparently from a fractional jar). The stamp has been twice struck.

(288)

Θευδ(~~club~~)

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K 92 (whole handle preserved, Ht ca. 0.14), ~~stamp~~

(289)

Θευδ((ret.)
club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K 94.

(290)

Θευδα(rose (ret.)

Pl. 25

4 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 2 ex.: Delos, # TD 2154 (Pl. 25); Alexandria, AVG 1244.

Please
do not
underline
these
letters

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 959, 1065 (Pl. 25).

(286)

a) Θεο(hel.)
d) club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K 41.

(287)

Θεο(twice struck
club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Athens, SS 4605 (cistern shaft E 15 : 4, other handles of the 1st quarter of the 2nd cent. B.C. ; whole handle preserved, Ht 0.145, ~~w. 0.041~~, apparently from a fractional jar).

(288)

Θεο(~~her~~
club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K 92 (whole handle preserved, Ht ca. 0.14; Pl. 25).

(289)

Θεο((retro)
club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Kos, K 94.

(290)

Θεο(α(rose (retro)

Pl. 25

4 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A 2 ex.: Delos, # TD 2154 (Pl. 25); Alexandria, AVG 1244.

Die B 2 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 959, 1065 (Pl. 25).

--- Type combining Θευδο(with ζανυπος see 000

(291)

Θευδος

Pl. 25

XXXXXXΑΝΤΙΟΧΗXXXXXPAK56XXXXP1624XX
All round letters formed by dots.

1 ex.: Antioch, Pa 587 - P 1624.

(292)

Θευδω(

Pl. 25

3 ex.: Kos, K 14 (Pl. 25), 89; Samos, I 633.

(293)

Θευδω(
club

Pl. 25

2 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Athens, EM 81 (Pl. 25).

Die B, 1 ex.: unknown finding-place BM 1925, 1-19, 766 (Pl. 25).

(294)

Θευδω(

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 476.

(295)

Θευδωρό^ν
club

Pl. 25

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 911.

(296)

Θευδωρό^ν
club

Pl. 26

4 ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 2ex.: Kos, K 68 (Pl. 26), 77

Die B, 1 ex.: Kos, K 132 (Pl. 26).

Die C, 1 ex.: Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 24 (Pl. 26).

297

Θευδωρό^ν
club

Pl. 26

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Kos, K 15.

(298)

Θευδωρό^ν
thyrsos

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 1087.

(299)

Θευτίπι(δας)
club

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 1110

(300)

Θpa(~~clu~~ ^{clu} ₅ (ret.)

Pl. 26

The omicron (?) is actually only a dot, perhaps not meant for a letter.

1 ex.: Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-2_0, 152.

(301)

Θpa(~~clu~~ Δ (ret.)

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 50.

(302)

Θpa~~ss~~ou

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Alexandrie, ABC 218.

(303)

Θ]asiou (ret.)

Pl. 26

1 ex.: ~~Ap~~, Athens, EM 2 4.

(304)

Θip~~ss~~ou (ret.)

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Kos, K 123.

(305)

Θ]asiw (ret.)

Pl. 26

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 437.

(306)
306

τασονος

Pl. 26-27

6 ex. from 4 dies.

Die A, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 790, 831 (Pl. 26).

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 337 (Pl. 27); AVG 1099.

Die C, 1 ex.: Rhodes, ΜΣ 2 93 (Pl. 27).

Die D, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 984 (Pl. 27).

A stamp resembling that of Die B, on a broad (non- double) handle found in Tyras (?) is here reproduced from Staerman p. , no. (no) A roughly made thick handle from Delos (TD 1940), like those on certain Roman jars, bears the same name in lettering like that of Dies B & D.

(307)

caducus τασονο[s]
up

Pl. 27

6 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 79, 206 (Pl. 27), 431.

(308)

a) τασο(νο)s
b) []

Pl. 27

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 44.

(309)

τασο(νο)s

Pl. 27

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 902.

(310)

'Iεpw((reh.)

Pl. 27

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 390.

(311)

'Iεpwvv(

Pl. 27

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 416 (Pl. 27); Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 35.

(312)

'Iεpwvνιρο(ν)

Pl. 27

3 ex.: Kos, K 103; Alexandria, ABC 57 (Pl. 27); AVG 1055 (Pl. 27).

(313)

'Iκαν[(reh.)

Pl. 27

1 ex.: Syme, X 375.

(314)

'Iκαρος

Pl. 27

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 405.

'Iκασου

see under Νικασίη no. (400)

(315)

'Iειδιρου

Pl. 27

4 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, # 541 (Pl. 27).

Die B, 3 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 484, 828 (Pl. 27); Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 126 (Pl. 27).

126 (Pl. 27).

516

K [ab]

Pl. 28

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 589.

517

En. Kαγγικάτε(υς)

Pl. 28

lex.: Kos, K 59.

518

Kαγγικάτου
Club

Pl. 28

2 ex.: Athens, EM 53; Alexandria, ABC 69 (Pl. 28).

A similar stamp appears on a non-double handle found in Olbia,

below.

519

Káp.
πτος

Pl. 28

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 476 (Pl. 28), 797.

520

a) ΛΑΛΑΖ
b) Káp
πτος

Pl. 28

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 1089. The same stamp b appears on 171.

521

Kapπο(

Pl. 28

3 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: unknown finding-place, BM 1925, 1-19, 472 (Pl. 28).

(321)

Die B, 2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 58 (Pl. 28), 881 (Pl. 28). It is not absolutely
that sure that both examples are from the same die.

(322)

KepSos

Pl. 28

1 ex.: Athens, SS 10696. The same reading appears on a handle found in Brindisi,
I.G., XIV, 2893, 320; there is no statement that the handle is double.

For the ^{name} in Latin, see (320) below.

(323)

club KepSos

Pl. 28

4 ex.: Samos, I 557 (Pl. 28); Istria, Canarache, 1957, p. 280, 716 (2 ex.);
Gallatis, Sauciuc-Saveanu, 1924, p. 150, 7, fig. 53.

(324)

Kepaxw(v) in frame

Pl. 28

7 ex. from 3 dies.

Die A, 4 ex.: Athens, SS 2910, 12290 (Pl. 28), 12914; Alexandria, ABC 299.

Die B, 4 ex.: Athens, SS 2910, 12290 (MSBF; Pl. 28), 12914 (MSBF); Alexandria, ABC 299.

Die C, 1 ex.: Rhodes, BM 1955, 9-20, 263 (I.G., XIII, I, no. 1351; here Pl. 28).

Die D, 2 ex.: Athens, EM 34, 35 (Pl. 28).

(324) bis

K> in wreath

1 ex.: Naukratis, BM 1955, 7-20, 28 (Pl. 28).

The same stamp occurs on broad (wreath) handle found in Agrina, (320) below (Pl. 28).

Pl. 28.

(325)

Kx̄cāv
ak̄t̄os

Pl. 28

2 ♂ ex.: Alexandria, ABC 90 (Pl. 28); Marisa, Macalister, 1901, no. 133, pl. 2, 25.

There is no statement in the publication that the handle is double; we owe the information to Dr P.P. Kahane. Dr Kahane reports also traces of another stamp on the other rib of the handle, and it seems likely that this is the same second stamp as appears on (171) and (320), which have unusual name stamps much like that of 325.

(326)

Kx̄cāv dub A

Pl. 28

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 807 (Pl. 28), 905.

(327)

Kx̄cāv dub A

Pl. 28

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 102 8.

(328)

KopivDō[v] in frame

Pl. 29

1 ex.: Samaria, inv. no. 36.622.

The same stamp appears (non-double)
on a broad handle from the Agora, S. 12635 (User 21), (000) below (Pl. 29).

(329)

Kpac

Pl. 29

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 533.

(330)

K τιν(

Pl. 29

1 ex.: Athens, SS 12479 (MSBF disturbed).

The same reading occurs on Rhodian handles and Early Knidian handle.

(331)

K τινει(

Pl. 29

X X X A X I X X A T E M M A X X E X 2 4 6 4 X 1 2 4 2 9 X (MSBF, possibly disturbed; Pl. 29).

2 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Athens, SS 2 464 (Pl. 2 9).

Die B, 1 ex.: Athens, SS 12429 (MSBF, possibly disturbed; Pl. 29).

(332)

K ι πον

Pl. 29

8 ex.: Athens, SS 1440; Alexandria, ABC 171, 212, 255, 353, 475, (Pl. 2 9),

712, 737,

(333)

Λ α[

Pl. 29

2 ex.: Kos, K 157; Ilion, no. 14 (Pl. 29).

(334)

Λ αρι
αρι

Pl. 29

2 ex.: Kos, K 46 (Pl. 29), 80.

(355)

Λαπτιζού
κλειδώματα

Pl. 29

12 ex. from 4 dies.

Die A, 2 ex.: Athens, SS 12291 (MSBF possibly disturbed; Pl. 29); Cyprus,

CMC 132.

Die B, 2 ex.: Athens, SS 12972 (MSBF, disturbed); Alexandria, AVG 975 (Pl. 29).

Die C, 2 ex. / : Athens, SS 7948 (Drain filling, H 12 : 1
; Pl. 29), 12701 (MSBF).

Die D, 6 ex.: Athens, SS 12383, (MSBF, possibly disturbed), 12702 (MSBF;
Pl. 29), 12915 (MSBF); Abdera, Abd. 604; Alexandria, ABC 1009; AVG 1061.
355 bis Λάξενς Pl. 29

1 ex.: Alexandria: ABC 731.

(356)

Λ λύρη Ε

Pl. 29

2 ex.: Delos, TD 4605; Alexandria, ABC 25

(357)

Λευκίος

Pl. 29/30

1 ex.: Athens, EM 75.

(358)

Λευκίου

Pl. 30

1 ex.: Delos, TD 12 40.

(378)

Mνυδωπον

Pl. 35

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 248, (Pl. 35); Olbia, Grakow & 276.

378

(379) ✓

L Mνυδω[πον]

Pl. 35

1 ex.: Athens, SS 7331 (cistern D 5: 2,

Next →
 The character to the left appears to be the sign , in the form of a capital L, used especially in Ptolemaic Egypt to introduce a date, which might suggest that Mνυδωπον was an eponymous official. See above, p. 000

densely similar
 A very ~~broad~~ die , but without the character L, appears on ΑΣΗΦΩΝΗΛΑΧΑΝΔΙΛΑ a broad (non-double) handle from Alexandria, p. 000 below.

(380) ✓

Mνυκρ(

Pl. 35

1 ex.: Delos, TD 5156.

(380) bis

[M]νυκρα[
ιανουας]

Pl. 35

1 ex.: Athens, SS 10059.

Mιννικρων

Pl. 36

381
382
383

3 ex.: Athens, SS 7979 (whole handle , see p. 000 above; Pl. 36), SS 14302 ;

Istria, Canarache, 1957, p. 280, 717.

380
381
382
383

Mνυκριπο[ν]

Pl. 35

1 ex.: Myrmekion, M/51-300.

384
386

M_vvvi(wv)
club

35
Pl. 38

(384)

1.69

andria, ABC 525 (Pl. 36); Phila-

The slight difference noticeable
(the space between the two letters vv)
between the two examples,

illustrated, is due to a
difference in setting the die.

35
Pl. 36

Alexandria, ABC 1087;

; unknown finding-place, BM 1955,

9-20, 245 and BM 1955,

Die B, 1^o ex.: Kos, K 21, 33; ^{Minoi, 1925, p. 248, 8} Kalymnos, BM 1955, 9-20, 298; Alexandria, ABC

107, 287, 422 (Pl. 30); AVC 981; Naukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 180; Bulgaria, Skorpil,

1934, p. 31, 167,

386
384

[M]vvviwv
club

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 244.

(386) bis

club
M]vvviwv lyre

Pl. 36

387
385

V 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1085.

M]vvviwv lyre

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Athens, SS 13952.

384

1.69

The slight difference noticeable
(the space between the two letters m)
between the two examples,
illustrated, is due to a
difference in setting the die.

384
388

Mvvvi(w)
club

35
Pl. 38

3 ex.: XALEXXXKIA XEXXXXX Kos, K 62; Alexandria, ABC 525 (Pl. 36); Phila-

delphesia (Egypt) ABC 872 (Pl. 36).

(385
388)

Mvvviw(v)
club

35
Pl. 36

16
25 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 6 ex.: Kos, K 22, 159; Chios, VG 22; Alexandria, ABC 1087; unknown finding-place, BM 1955,

9-20, 243 and BM 1925, 1-19, 505.

Die B, 10 ex.: Kos, K 21, 33; Kalymnos, BM 1955, 9-20, 298; Alexandria, ABC

107, 287, 422 (Pl. 36); AVC 981; Maukratis, BM 1955, 9-20, 180; Bulgaria, Skorpil.

1934, p. 31, 167,

386
384

[M]vvviwv
club

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 244.

386 bin

club
Mvvviwv ret?

Pl. 36

387
385

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 1085.

Mvvviwv lyre

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Athens, SS 13952.

Minnivmos lyre

Pl. 36

4 ex.: Athens, SS 8139 (Pl. 36); EM 43; Alexandria, ABC 161; AVG 972.

(389)

(387)

Minnivmos lyre

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 257.

(390)

(389)

Minnivmos thyrsos

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 138.

No base or foot visible.

(381)

(389)

Minni [wv ?] (red)

Pl. 36

35

1 ex.: Rhodes, ME 297.

(390)

(389)

[Minni wv ?] Minni(wv) club

Pl. 36

35

1 ex.: Samos, Tigan I 973; Alexandria, ABC 1187 (Pl. 36)

(391)

Moz(

Pl. 36

2 ex. from 2 dies.

Die A, 1 ex.: Athens, SS 10763 (Pl. 36).

Die B, 1 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 398 (Pl. 36)

Cf. the same reading on a broad (non-double) handle from Kos, p. 106 below.

Mos[

36
Pl. 37

1. 73

(392)

7 ex. from 2 dies.

36

1. 72

392 bis

· Eni' Attox[

Mosxiw[

Pl. 36

1 ex.: Myrmekion, M/52-99. Listed by Grakov, K 1. His reading of the
2nd line is Ποε....

(393)

s. ιρρού[
Mosxiw[ō]
(ret.)

1 ex.: Alexandria, AVG 1062 (Pl. 36)

The name occurs in stamps on small medicine flasks, 000, below

36
Pl. 37

~~(Pl. 37)~~
Maoxios coxa daxi str., 43bis

(394)

Mosxov club

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 263 (Pl. 37), 575.

N, see under

000

(395)

N, (ret.)

36
Pl. 37

1 ex.: Kos, K 100.

(396)

club
Nikal

36
Pl. 37

1 ex.: Samos, I 585.

392 bis

ἘπιἈποχλ
Μοεχίων

1.72

Pl. 36.

1 ex.: Myrmekion, M/52-99. Listed by Grakov, K 1. His reading of the
2nd line is ΤΙόπε....

Mos(

(392)

36
Pl. 37

1. 73

⁷
6 ex., from 2 dies.

Die A, ⁴ ex.: Samos, Heron I 865, 971; Alexandria, ABC 215, 318 (Pl. 37).

Die B, 3 ex.: Samos, I 571; Alexandria, ABC 928 (Pl. 37); Tyras (?), Staerman, 1951, fig. 5, no. 128. The same die, according to Staerman, 1951, p. 39, appears

on broad (non-double) handle, p. 600 below.

(392 bis) see attached paper.

(393)

sΦpou[
Moσxiwv[ο]
(ret.)

36
Pl. 37

1 ex.: Alexandria, AWG 1062 (Pl. 36)

The name occurs in stamps, on small medicine flasks, 600, below
--- Moσxiwv καὶ αὐτοῖς οὐχι, (436).

(394)

Moσxiwv club

36
Pl. 37

2 ex.: Alexandria, ABC 263 (Pl. 37), 575.

— N, see under 600

(395)

N, (ret.)

36
Pl. 37

1 ex.: Kos, K 100.

(396)

club
Nikal

36
Pl. 37

1 ex.: Samos, I 585.

Coan catalog

Third num (VG) - 3 -

[III-IV. 57]

201

5. ²³ ²² ^{from 6} ³ ²³ examples ~~in~~ different dies Plate 1
Adaios

Die A, 1 ex.: Athens, EM 1 (Plate 1)

Die B, 5 ex., all from Alexandria: ABC 88 (Plate 1), 438, 537, 818; AVG 882.

Die C, ³ ^{586,} ^{from} 8 ex., Alexandria: ABC 259 (Plate 1), [^] ABC 593.

Die D, ¹³ ¹² ex., of which 11 from Alexandria: AVG 902 (Plate 1), ^{and} AVG 1083;
ABC 235, 384, 414, ~~434~~ 434, 482, 499, 596, 802, 817; of unknown finding-place,
^{, 955}

BM 1925, 1-19, 337.

AVG 1109 (Plate 1)
Die E, 1 ex., ^{from} Alexandria: ~~ABC 666 XXXXX (Plate 1)~~

ABC 856
Die F, 1 " " " ~~XXXVIIID (Plate 1)~~

DIEIX

6. ⁶ ^{Adaios(u) (retr.)} Plate 2

1 ex., Athens: EM 72

7. ⁷ ^{Adaios(u) (retr.)} Apparently a cut die. Plate 2

3 ex., all from Alexandria: ABC 75 (Plate 2), ABC 768, 803.

8. ⁸ ^{Adaios rose} ²⁵ ^{from} 24 examples ⁱⁿ 3 different dies ~~Plates 2~~ Plate 2

Die A, ¹⁶ ³⁵ ex.: Athens, SS 2382 (well F 15:5, Hellenistic); EM 2; Alexandria.

ABC 120, 124, 147, 155, 179 (Plate 2), 199(?), 290(?), 440, 446, 555(?), 758,

770, 890; AVG 901.

Die B

Die B, ⁸ 7 ex. of which ⁷ from Alexandria: Delos, TD 1390; Alexandria,

ABC 291, 497 (Plate 2), 522, 891; AVG 1100; BM 48, 7-31, 351.

,959

Die C, 2 ex., from Alexandria: ABC 214 (Plate 2), and 325 (Plate 2).

9. ^{9.} ^{from} *Αδαιου* rose (retr.) 2 examples in 2 different dies Plate 2

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 9 (Plate 2).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 864 (Plate 2).

10. ^{from} *Αθηναιου* 2 examples in 2 different dies Plate 3

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 479 (Plate 3) (whole handle preserved, Ht. 0.162).

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 64 (Plate 3).

11. ^{from} *Αθηναι[ου]?* club Plate 3

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 413. (Illustration)

12. ^{from} *Αθηναι[ου]* club

Drawing
stamps of
exist of 12
(+14)
and 13, small
they go into
best?
HAT

1 ex., from Cos: Nuov. Syll., p.247, 2. According to the drawing, this type is close to, but not identical with, 11.

13. ^{from} *Αθηναι[ου]* (retr.) club

1 ex., from Cos: Nuov. Syll., p.247, 3.

14. ^{from} *Εμι Νοσιου* (retr.)
Αθηναιου

1 ex., from Kerch(?); Vladislav Skorpil, Bull. Comm. Imp. Arch. 1904, 11, p.148,

2.03

658. The type is included with reservations. Skorpil's text states that the stamp is on a double handle, but the statement may be based on an error in records, since the kind of stamp is uncharacteristic, and neither of the names is otherwise known on Coan stamps.

15. Aig'ws in cartouche-shaped stamp

Plate 3

1 ex., from Antioch: a991-P1844

Αἰγύπτοι

Plate

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 11 (Plate 1).

17 A¹⁵xu
club

Plate 3

2 ex.: Cos., Nuov. Syll., p. 247, 4: Calymmos. BM 1955, 9-20, 322 (Plate 5)

$$\frac{18}{31} \cdot Ad \approx 6$$

Plate 3

4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 5, 195, 364 (Plate), 455. A remarkably similar

seems
stamp appears on a handle which appears to be Chian (Agora, SS 5458, Plate 3).

19 > A A K (

^{from}
4 examples in 2 different dies

Plate 3

~~EXXXXXX~~ EXXXXXX

DEUXIÈME PLATEAU XXXIX

Die A, 2 ex.: Athens, SS 6259: Alexandria, AVG 1047 (Plate)

Die B, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 419 (Plate 3); AVG 985

20 [?]A D K $\dot{\varepsilon}$ TA
m club(?), wheel

Plate 3

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 111

24

Examples in 2-dit

42

Digitized by srujanika@gmail.com

21 *Ἀρύτου* from 3 examples in 2 dies Plate 3

Die A, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 793 (Plate 3)

Die B, 2 ex., Alexandria: ABC 411 (Plate 3); AVG 2146 (inv.no. 15406)

22 *Ἀρύτου (retr.)* from 5 examples in 2 dies Plate 3

Die A, 4 ex., Alexandria: ABC 202 (2 impressions) (Plate 3), 847; AVG 855,1069.

Die B, 1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 515 (Plate 3)

23 *Ἀράσαγόπα* Plate 4

3 ex.: Athens, SS 8019 (O 18: , pit, late Hellenistic to early Roman filling);

Alexandria, ABC 207 (Plate); Antioch, Pa 690-1689.

24 *Ἀράσαγόπα (framed)* Plate 4

1 ex., unknown provenance: BM 1925, 1-19, 741 (Plate 4)

25 * *Ἀρέπικος (retr.)* Plate 4

3 ex., Athens: SS 186 (Hellenistic context), 4981 (Plate 4), and 14062 (MSBF).

26 *Ἀρέπικος (letters retr.)* Plate 4

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 189 (Plate 4)

27 *Ἀρέπο[* Plate 4

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 84

28 *Ἀρέπομ[(retr.)* Plate 4

1 ex., Alexandria: ABC 61

2 ex.: Athens, SS 4276 + P 6353 (cistern E 14:1, filling dated ca. 275-225 B.C.), a whole jar, on which see above, pp. a well, dated c. 275-250 B.C. or possibly later; see J.K. Anderson "Excavation on the Kofina Ridge, Chios," B.S.A. XLIX, p. 159, on the "third deposit", with possible revision D. (19 and April 25).
The second item comes

46. -Arceps[us] club

2 ex.: Athens, SS 4276+P. SS 4276-plus-P 6353 (cistern E 14: 1, filling # dated ca. 275-225 B.C.), a whole jar, on which see above, pp. ; Chios, VG 33 (Plate).

The handle from Chios comes from a deposit ~~XXXXX~~ (the top filling of a well) dated ca. 275-250 B.C. or possibly the second half of the century: see J.K. Anderson, "Excavation on the Kofina Ridge, Chios," B.S.A. XLIX, p. 159, on the "third deposit," and the tentative revision of this date on p. 129, the end of note 25. For possible reference to the handle here published, see ibid. p. 155, no. 276, though ^{though} is not mentioned.

(inv. no. 15445)

Coarse catalogue

26.III.87

4.01

1. A club

^{Alexandria}

1. KO. ABC 518. Handle fragment preserves rim. Red clay with greenish slip.

2. KO. ABC 707

Plate

3. KO. ABC 826

2. 'Aya ð[(retro)

^{Alexandria}

1. SS 9382 (cistern B 80:2, dated before about 150 B.C.) Handle fragment preserves rim. Red clay, yellowish deposit on surface.

3. 'Aya ða/ in 3 diff. dies.

^{Alexandria}
club

Plate

Die A: 1. SS 554 (MSBF)

2. SS 12682 (MSBF)

Plate

3. KO. ABC 945

Die B: 1. SS 6619 (cistern E 6:2)

Plate?

2. SS 12534 ("should be MSBF")

4. KO. EM 71

5. KO. EM 89

6. TD. 2889, stamp on both halves

Plate

7. Alex. VG 858

M.A. Published. Main rep. 246, 2

Die C: 1. SS 6367

2. Alex. VG 973

Plate

The full name could be 'Aya ða(rāz)' see Segre-Carratelli index (partie)

4. Αγαθίνου
dub.

Plate

1. SS 12294 (MSBF, possibly disturbed)
^{Athenian}
Naukratis

2. BM 1955, 9-20, 40 (from Naukratis)

Plate

Ποδαρκεύ(ς) γ inverted?

Plate

Third century (MSBF). See name list for possible identification.

1. ^{Athenian} SS 1359 (MSBF)

Plate

Part of the neck and shoulder with one whole handle.

- P.H 0.25 ; H.H 0.18. Red clay slightly micaceous with
- cream slip. Collar rim, flat top slopes toward interior. The top
- of the shoulder ^{slightly offset from} ~~is slight relief against~~ the cylindrical neck.

2. ^{Alexandrian} KO. ABC 848 (probably not from the same die) Plate

The name occurs on inscriptions; see P.H no. 10, a list of citizens of Cos who contributed for military expenses. For the date P.H, Appendix C, p. 335

(3)

5. Aδαιον 23 ex. in 7 different dies Plate

Die A 1. Athens EM 1

Plate

n B 1. Alexandria BC 88

"

2-4 n BC 438, 537, 818

5. n VG 882

n C 1. n BC 259

"

2. n BC 593

n D 1. n VG 902

"

2. n VG 1083

3-11 n BC 235, 384, 414, 434, 482, 499, 596, 802, 817, 955

12. BM 1925, 1-19, 337

*Not distinct
- not*

n E 1. Alexandria BC 586 Plate

n F 1. n VG 1109

"

n G 1. n BC 856

"

Almost exactly the same die C appears on an ordinary
twait an
answer of H.B. handle (not double) from the Alexandria Behnli Collection.
if day is similar
it to loan

6. Aδαιον (retro) Plate

1 example; Athens, EM 72

7. Aδαιος (eth) Plate

3 examples: Alexandria BC 75 (plate), 768, 803

8. Aδαιον rose Plate

Die A: 15 examples; Athens, ss 2382 (F 15:5); Alexandria BC 120, 124, 147, 155,

179 (plate), 199¹¹, 290¹¹, 440, 446, 555¹¹, 758, 770, 890; Alexandria VG 902

K.E.M 2 to be
added = 162

ABC 179 Die B: 7 examples: Delos, TD 1390 (Maisons au Sud de l'Agora 1909); Alexandria BC 291,

497 (plate), 522, 891¹¹; Alexandria VG 1100; Alexandria, BM 48, 7-31, 351.

(4)

8.

Die C : 2 examples: Alexandria, BC 214 (plate), 325 (plate)

9. Aδαιος nose fib. Plate

Die A : 1 example: Alexandria BC 9 (plate)

n B : 1 " : Alexandria B 864 (plate)

10. Aθunk [fib] for Aθn(v) κακίς? Plate
1 example, Alexandria BC 912

10. Aθναιον 2 examples in 2 different dies Plate

Die A, 1 ex: Alexandria BC 479, whole handle preserved Ht. 0.162 (plate)

Die B (with N retr.), 1 ex: Alexandria BC 64 (plate)

11. Aθναιό(u) not sure if this is the end of the stamp plate
club?

1 ex: Alexandria BC 413 (plate)

12. Aθναιο(v)
club

1 ex: Cos, Nuov. Syll. p. 247, 2

13. Aθναιο(v) (retr.)
club

1 ex: Cos, Nuov. Syll. p. 247, 3

14. -Επι Τοξίου (retr.)

-Aθνιττον

1 ex: Kertch Museum: Skorpi. Bull. Comm. Trop. Arch. 1904, II, p. 148, 658

15. Αἰγέως in cartouche-shaped stamp Plate

1 ex: Antioch 2991-P 1844 (plate)

16. Αἴγυπτος plate

1 ex: Alexandria BC. 11 (plate)

17. Αἰοχούλ plate

club

2 ex: Cos, Nuov. Syll., p. 247, 4; Calymnos: BM 1955, 9-20, 328 (plate)

18. Ἀγρεζ(plate

4 ex., all from Alexandria; BC 5, 195, 369 (plate), 455
cf. similar stamp on Chian

19 Ἀγάκ(4 ex. in 2 different dies plate

Die A: Athens, SS 6259; Alexandria VG 1047 (plate)

Die B: Alexandria; BC 419 (plate); Alexandria VG 985

20 Ἀγκέα plate
device, wheel

1 ex: Alexandria BC 111

21 Ἀγύπτον 3 ex. in 2 dies plate

Die A: 1 ex: Alexandria BC 793 (plate)

Die B: 2 ex: Alexandria BC 411 (plate); Alex. VG 2146 (15406 in Vitruve)

22 Ἀγύπτον (ret.)

Die A: 4⁵ ex: Alexandria BC 202, 2 impressions (plate), 847; Alex. VG 855, 1069

6

22. Ἀγύτιον (petr.)

Die B: 1 ex: Alexandria BC 515 (plate)

23. Ἀράζαρόπα

plate

3 ex: Athens ss 8019 (018:); Alexandria BC 207 (plate); Antioch
Pa 690-1689.24. Ἀράζαρόπα framed

plate

1 ex: BM 1925, 1-19, 741 (plate)

25. *Ἀρδρίκ (petr.)

plate

3 ex: all from Agora: ss 136 (grace 238), 4981 (plate) 14062 (MSBF)26. Ἀ]ὐδρίκοῦ letters retr.

plate

1 ex: Alexandria BC 189 (plate)

(The name occurs on inscriptions, see P.H.)

27. Ἀὐδρό[

plate

1 ex: Alexandria BC 84

28. Ἀὐδρόπ(petr.)

plate

1 ex.: Alexandria BC 61 (plate)

29. Ἀὐδρός (petr.)

plate

1 ex.: Alexandria BC 326

30. *Ἀὐδρός

caducous l.

plate

+

30

16 ex: Athens: ss 506, 550 (MSBF), 2288, 5049, 7901 (cistern N 20:7, ~~MSBF~~
 filling apparently contemporary with MSBF), 12221 (MSBF) (plate), 12287 (MSBF,
 possibly disturbed), 12909 (MSBF), 13780 ^{EM 4} (N Alexandria BC 201 (plate)),
 219, 251, 530, 538, 942

31

caduceus

Plate 4

'Arδoops (sic)

2 ex: Athens, EM 6 (plate), 73.

32

~Arδoops (?)

club

Plate 4

2 ex: Calymnos (Newton's investigations, 1856), BM 1955, 9-20, 256 (IG
 XII, 1, no. 1239) ^(plate 4) unknown finding place, BM 1925, 1-19, 93.
 Although this abbreviated text permits a different restoration (q. 28), the
 drawings suggest this type is to be grouped with 33 and 34. ⁻³³

33

"Arδoops

club

Plate 4.

1 ex., Athens; EM 5

34

'Arδoops (sic)

club

2 ex.: Alexandria, VG 1066; Halicarnassus, Mausoleum. Newton's investigations 1856, BM 1955, 9-20, 283 (plate).

The Arδea see under Ηδ.

35

~Arεινδoops or 'Arεινδos

Plate

1 ex., Unknown finding place; BM 1925, 1-19, 690.

TR. 61 Discards

mostly carbon copies